IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Docket No. 72988

KENNETH FRANKS Appellant,

Electronically Filed Oct 24 2017 09:56 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA Appellee.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Carolyn Ellsworth, District Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the district court erred in admitting bad acts evidence to show "propensity."
- 2. Whether the district court erred in not holding a *Petrocelli* hearing before admitting bad acts evidence.
- 3. Whether the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 2015, Kenneth Franks was charged with one count of lewdness with a minor. After a jury trial, he was convicted on December 7, 2016. He was sentenced to 10 years to life, the mandatory statutory sentence, on March 29, 2017, and the judgment of conviction was filed on April 6, 2017. The notice of appeal was filed on May 1, 2017.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2015, Kenneth Franks was a quiet 20 year-old who lived at home with his parents. Appeals Appendix ["AA"] 438. He studied computers online through ITT Tech, and was good enough at it to get a job offer from them while still in school. AA 461. He also spent most of his leisure time working and playing computer games, along with his brother. AA 324-28.

Sometimes, Kenneth's half-brother would come to visit, along with his daughter A.F. and her younger brother J.F. – Kenneth's niece and nephew.¹ AA 204-05. The kids would all play video games on these visits, either separately or together. AA 211-12. Kenneth would also tickle and wrestle with A.F. and J.F. AA 305-06.

¹ "A.F." is a pseudonym, used to keep a minor's identity confidential in compliance with NRS 200.3771. It was also used in the complaint. AA 2. Although there were never any allegations related to "J.F.," a pseudonym is also used to refer to him in order to further guard his and his sister's privacy.

These gatherings ended when a criminal complaint was filed against Kenneth, alleging that he committed lewdness with a minor. AA 2. Specifically, it was alleged that when A.F. and her brother came over to visit in June 2015, he had touched the outside of her genitals with his hand. AA 36. Kenneth denied this, rejected a plea offer from the State, and decided to try and prove his innocence at trial. AA 542.

A.F.'s Testimony

According to A.F., on the occasion in question, she and Kenneth were wrestling and he was tickling her in the computer room at Kenneth's parents' house. She stated that her pants and underwear were pulled down one after the other and his hand touched her genitals. AA 54-58. She stated that on another occasion, she had told him to stop (both tickling her and touching her genitals). AA 57. She also said that on one occasion, Kenneth's brother came in and told Kenneth to stop. AA 56.

A.F.'s testimony was clear on these points, but vague and filled with lack of recollection on many other points. For instance, she could not remember when the alleged incident had happened, not even whether it was before her summer vacation or not. AA 58. She could not remember whether the visit in question was on a weekday or a weekend; who was at the house (besides Kenneth); or what she had done that day.² AA 75-76.

On direct examination, A.F. was provided with a transcript of the interview she gave police. This transcript provided her with a few more details. She remembered trying to grab the door and pull herself out of the computer room, while Kenneth held onto her legs. She also remembered that her brother, J.F., was on Kenneth's back during that time, and that she had not made any noise during these events. She remembered that eventually Kenneth stopped, and she was able to get up and run out of the room. AA 68-71. She still could not remember when the alleged incident had happened, however; she specifically did not remember telling the detective that it had happened near the end of her sixth-grade year. AA 67.

A.F.'s lack of recollection continued on cross-examination. She said she was "not really sure" whether she had gone to Kenneth's parents' house in June. AA 75-76. She was "not sure" whether the day of the alleged incident was a weekday or a weekend. AA 76. Even after reviewing the interview transcript, she still could not remember. AA 77. She remembered going shopping one day with her grandmother and Kenneth in the summer, but was not sure whether it was the

 $^{^{2}}$ A primary area of contention at the trial was whether the alleged touching could have taken place on a date in June 2015 or not. Since A.F. did not remember the actual date, much of the testimony was devoted to showing whether it could or could not have happened at a specific time.

same day that Kenneth allegedly touched her. AA 77-79. She also testified that she didn't remember why her brother was on Kenneth's back, but that he liked playing with Kenneth, and liked climbing on people's backs. AA 79-81.

On redirect, the State asked again whether the day of the alleged incident was a weekday or weekend. A.F. still could not remember, but on rereading the transcript said that she had told the detective it was a weekend. AA 116. A.F. also stated that she could not remember what her uncle M.F.³ was doing at the time of the alleged touching. After rereading the transcript, the State asked if she could remember telling the detective that he was sleeping; she said she still could not. AA 117-118. On redirect, A.F. also stated that Kenneth had touched her five times, though she could not remember exactly when these happened. AA 119.

The Detective's Testimony

In the face of all these failures of recollection, the judge allowed the detective who interviewed A.F. to testify as to her statements during the interview. He said she told him that the last alleged touching happened toward the end of her sixth grade year, "which would have been around May or June 2015." AA 294. The detective also testified that A.F. had told him that M.F. was sleeping during the alleged incident; he could not remember whether she said that M.F. was

³ "M.F." is Kenneth's brother, and was also a minor at the time these events took place, as well as the time of the trial. Thus, his name is also under a pseudonym.

sleeping in the room or not. AA 317. He also testified that A.F. told him that the incident happened on a weekend, toward the middle or end of June. AA 320-22.

The detective also testified about his interrogation of Kenneth. He testified that Kenneth was generally "cooperative" and that for a majority of the interview, he denied touching A.F.'s genitals. AA 318. The detective repeatedly asked whether he had ever touched his niece's genitals while wrestling with and tickling her. For "forty, almost fifty minutes" he denied that he had done so. AA 305. Eventually, under sustained questioning, he stated that it was possible that her pants had come down and his hands had grazed her genitals. AA 310.

J.F.'s Testimony

A.F.'s brother, J.F., also testified at trial. He stated that his uncle Kenneth would tickle both the children on their stomachs and under their arms. AA 181-82. He also remembered once seeing Kenneth tickle A.F. while her pants and underwear were down, allowing him to see her bottom. AA 182-83. J.F. stated that Kenneth pulled the pants and underwear down in one motion, while continuing to tickle A.F.. AA 184. He also stated that his sister continued to laugh throughout all of this, so he laughed too. AA 184-85.

At this point, J.F. climbed on Kenneth's back, because A.F. was laughing so hard he was concerned. AA 185-86, 193. J.F. further said that at some point Kenneth stopped tickling A.F., and she got up and went over to where J.F. was sitting (in the computer room) and talked to him. AA 187. J.F. also said that his uncle M.F. was sleeping in the room at this point, so he tried to be quieter, but A.F. and Kenneth would not.⁴ AA 186. Finally, he testified that he went out and immediately told his father what he had seen in the room. AA 186-87.⁵

Other Testimony

The rest of the testimony in the case was largely concerned with trying to pin down when, if ever, the alleged touching happened in June. A.F. and J.F.'s father (the only one who ever took them over to Kenneth's parents' house) testified that they went over there two or three times in June. AA 205. The detective testified that Kenneth told him the last time he had seen A.F. was in early June. AA 304.

M.F., Kenneth's brother, testified that he only saw his niece and nephew come over once in June 2015 (along with their father). He testified that they came over for about a half-hour on June 23 (a Tuesday). AA 331. On this occasion, Kenneth showed A.F. a video on the computer (specifically, a promotional video from E3, a large video game trade show which happens every year). AA 333, 345. M.F. also stated that he had never seen Kenneth touch A.F., or A.F. with her pants down, either on that date or any time in 2015 generally. AA 335-37.

⁴ J.F.'s father also testified that M.F. typically slept in this room; however, in his own testimony M.F. denied that he ever did. AA 205, 347.

⁵ J.F.'s father denied this in his testimony, and said that he did not find out about the incident until several months later. AA 219.

Kenneth's mother, Maria, also testified. She said that she only saw A.F. and J.F. come over once in June, on June 24. She took A.F., J.F., and Kenneth shopping for various clothes and school supplies; they also went to Costco and Circus Circus. Maria was able to testify to all of this with a high degree of accuracy, because of her habit of keeping a meticulous calendar and receipts from all purchases. AA 372-90.

Maria testified that the kids were only out of her sight at her house for two short periods. Once, she took a shower for about twenty minutes in the bathroom attached to the computer room. During this period, the kids stayed in the living room with her husband. AA 371. Additionally, for a short period she stood outside watering her garden while A.F. went inside to wash the mud off her new sneakers. AA 388-90.

There was also fairly extensive testimony related to the poor relationship between Maria and her oldest son (A.F.'s father, Kenneth's half-brother). The two were apparently distant, and money was a frequent point of contention between them, as well as Maria's previous life as a migrant worker, leaving A.F.'s father behind in the Philippines for long stretches of time. AA 395-98, 409-29.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

During Kenneth's trial, the lower court admitted bad acts evidence, in the form of A.F.'s testimony about alleged previous incidents of touching. The lower court specifically instructed the jury that this evidence was admissible for "intent, motive, or propensity." This was an error, since bad acts evidence is strictly inadmissible to show propensity. The error was further compounded by the prosecution's repeated references to Kenneth's alleged propensity during its closing.

The lower court also erred in not conducting a *Petrocelli* hearing on the evidence, pursuant to *Bigpond v. State*. Such a hearing would have shown the evidence to be inadmissible, and prevented it from illegitimately influencing the jury's deliberations.

Finally, the prosecution's case was so thin as to present a sufficiency of the evidence issue. Especially after leaving out the improperly admitted propensity evidence, there was not enough evidence for a rational finder of fact to convict Kenneth.

9

ARGUMENT

I. The Lower Court Wrongly Admitted Bad Acts Evidence Without Considering the *Petrocelli/Bigpond* Factors.

During Kenneth Franks' trial, A.F. testified that he had touched her genitals multiple times, despite Kenneth only being charged with one offense. Thus, the other incidents were bad acts evidence. This is only admissible if the lower court follows a specific procedure, originally laid out in *Petrocelli v. State*, to determine that the evidence is more probative than prejudicial. The lower court failed to do so, and the evidence would not have met that test in the first place. Therefore, Kenneth's conviction should be reversed.

Kenneth was charged with only one count of lewdness with a minor. AA 2. However, A.F. testified that he touched her genitals five times. AA 118. This testimony was not preceded by a hearing on its admissibility, or even any informal deliberation by the court.

Bad acts evidence is governed by NRS 48.045. It is allowed into evidence, but not to prove the character of the defendant. Rather, it may be admitted for valid purposes such as to show intent or motive. NRS 48.045(2).

The primary case in this area is *Bigpond v. State*, 128 Nev. 108 (2012). In *Bigpond*, this Court set out the precise procedure which lower courts must follow

10

in order to admit bad acts evidence.⁶ The court must find three factors: (1) the evidence is relevant to the crime charged, and for a non-propensity purpose; (2) the State can prove the act by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *Bigpond*, 128 Nev. at 116-17.

The *Bigpond* Court warned that "Although we conclude that evidence of 'other crimes, wrongs or acts' may be admitted for any relevant nonpropensity purpose, we reemphasize that a presumption of inadmissibility attaches to all prior bad act evidence. The use of uncharged bad act evidence to convict a defendant is heavily disfavored in our criminal justice system because bad acts are often irrelevant and prejudicial and force the accused to defend against vague and unsubstantiated charges." *Id.* at 117 (internal citations and quotations removed). Thus, the Court cautioned that hearings are necessary to prevent against evidence being misused.

It is error for a lower court to fail to hold a hearing under *Bigpond*. However, this error is not always reversible. In *Rhymes v. State*, this Court reviewed the record *de novo* and found that even though there was no hearing in

⁶ The original case in this vein was *Petrocelli v. State*, 101 Nev. 46 (1985), and such hearings are still commonly called "*Petrocelli* hearings." This Court first set out the three factor test in *Tinch v. State*, 113 Nev. 1170 (1997), and then refined the first factor in *Bigpond*.

the lower court, the record still showed that all three factors were met and so the error was harmless. 121 Nev. 17, 24 (2005).

However, in *Meek v. State* this Court reviewed the record *de novo* and found that the factors were not present. 112 Nev. 1288 (1996). At Meek's sexual assault trial, the State was allowed to present evidence of a previous sexual assault which was reported to the police but never charged. The lower court allowed this in without a hearing. Reviewing the record, the Court found that the State had failed to prove the existence of the previous act by clear and convincing evidence.

Specifically, the Court held that "While clear and convincing evidence can be provided by a victim's testimony alone, the other woman's statement to police was apparently insufficient evidence to establish probable cause of a crime by Meek. Therefore, we conclude that from the record before us, clear and convincing proof of the prior attack was not established." *Id.* at 1295. Therefore, the Court reversed Meek's conviction.

The standard for reversal was laid out in *Tavares v. State*, 117 Nev. 725 (2001). This Court applies the test for nonconstitutional error originally laid out in *Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750 (1946). "The test under *Kotteakos* is whether the error 'had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict.' Thus, unless we are convinced that the accused suffered no prejudice as determined by the *Kotteakos* test, the conviction must be

12

reversed. On account of the potentially highly prejudicial nature of uncharged bad act evidence, however, it is likely that cases involving the absence of a limiting instruction on the use of uncharged bad act evidence will not constitute harmless error." *Tavares*, 117 Nev. at 732-33.

In Kenneth's case, the lower court failed to hold a hearing on the bad acts evidence outside the presence of the jury. This was clear error under *Bigpond*. The court failed to even consider any of the three factors. Thus, this Court should reverse Kenneth's conviction, unless the record can show that all three factors were met.

The record cannot show that all three factors were met. Specifically, the State did not prove that the four other incidents mentioned by A.F. happened by clear and convincing evidence.⁷ The only evidence of their existence was a short reference by A.F. in her testimony. She stated that one time, she was playing the computer with her brother in the room, and Kenneth touched her over her clothes. There were no other details about that incident or any other incident, and she could not even remember what year it took place. AA 119.

This is not enough to meet the standard. Indeed, it is extremely noteworthy that neither police nor the State were confident enough in the existence of these events to charge Kenneth for them. As this Court noted in *Meek*, if the evidence

⁷ In addition, the first factor was not met – the testimony was admitted to prove "propensity" in contradiction to *Bigpond*. *See* Section II *infra*.

was insufficient to even establish probable cause, then it is by definition insufficient to be proven clearly and convincingly. Thus, this evidence should not have been admitted.

In some instances, a complainant's testimony may be enough to meet the *Bigpond* factors. This is not one of those instances. A.F.'s testimony was too thin to meet the test, and so this evidence should not have been admitted. The lower court's failure to follow *Bigpond* is therefore grounds for reversal.

II. The Lower Court Wrongly Instructed the Jury to Consider Bad Acts Evidence for Propensity.

At Kenneth's trial, the lower court admitted testimony that Kenneth had previously touched A.F.'s genitals. In the jury instructions, the court ordered the jury to consider whether that testimony established that Kenneth had a propensity to commit crimes. In addition, the court allowed the State to stress this evidence of propensity during its closing argument. These were clear errors which tainted the jury's deliberations and necessitate reversal.

As stated above, Kenneth was charged with one count of lewdness with a minor, related to an alleged touching in June 2015. AA 2. However, at trial his niece A.F. testified that he had touched her five times altogether. AA 118.

The lower court did not give a limiting instruction at the time. At the end of the trial, the court did instruct the jury that this evidence could not be used to prove

that Kenneth was "a person of bad character or that he has a disposition to commit crimes." The jury was instructed that it could use the evidence to prove "intent, motive, or propensity." AA 548.

The State referred to this instruction twice in its closing. The first time, it simply mentioned the intent and motive aspects. AA 479. However, the second time, the State specifically highlighted the element of propensity. The prosecutor argued that "you can't take these other five instances to say the defendant's a horrible person.⁸ But what you're allowed to do is look at that as motive, intent and propensity. And propensity is an inclination or natural tendency to behave in a particular way." AA 520.

Bad acts evidence is governed by NRS 48.045. This statute states that "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." NRS 48.045(2). While intent and motive both appear on this list, "propensity" notably does not. Inasmuch as "propensity" is synonymous with "character", it is strictly banned from consideration.

⁸ This was a factual misrepresentation by the State. As already mentioned, A.F. testified that there were only five incidents total, not five other incidents plus the one Kenneth was actually charged for. AA 118.

Caselaw further supports this reasoning. In *Braunstein v. State*, this Court specifically considered the question of whether bad acts evidence could be used to

demonstrate a propensity to commit sexual misconduct.

We question whether the statute's reference to the admissibility of other crimes, wrongs or acts for "other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident" should include the purpose of proving a "propensity for sexual aberration." Evidence of such a propensity sounds much more like the kind of inadmissible, bad character evidence prohibited by NRS 48.045(1)...

We specifically overrule the legal proposition enunciated in *Findley* that evidence of other acts offered to prove a specific emotional propensity for sexual aberration is admissible and that, when offered, it outweighs prejudice. In so doing we ensure that the trial courts will always properly weigh the probative value of the evidence against the risk that the defendant will be unfairly prejudiced by its admission.⁹

Braunstein v. State, 118 Nev. 68, 74-75 (2002).¹⁰

The statute and caselaw both reflect a basic principle of black-letter

evidence law. Evidence of prior bad acts is not admissible to prove propensity.

The jury is supposed to consider whether a defendant committed the specific crime

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