IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENNETH FRANKS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Dec 22 2017 03:33 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 72988

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Following a Jury Trial and Verdict Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant has failed to demonstrate that admitting evidence of his prior bad acts without a hearing constitutes plain error, that instructing the jury to consider his prior bad acts for propensity constitutes plain error, or that there was insufficient evidence to convict him. First, although a hearing was not held prior to admitting Appellant's prior bad acts, the record is sufficient to indicate that the acts were permissible because they were relevant and were introduced for a non-propensity reason (along with a properly presented propensity argument); they were proved by clear and convincing evidence; and the risk of prejudice did not outweigh the probative value of admitting the acts. Moreover, the lack of a hearing is not grounds for reversal because even if the acts had not been admitted, Appellant would have been found guilty based on the other evidence presented.

Second, the jury was properly instructed to consider Appellant's prior bad acts for propensity. The Legislature recently amended NRS 48.045 to allow prior bad acts to be used to show propensity in sexual offense cases. This is indicated by the plain language of NRS 48.045(3) which states that *nothing* else in NRS 48.045 shall prevent the introduction of prior bad acts. The plain language indicates that this includes NRS 48.045(1) which prevents prior bad acts being used for propensity. Moreover, the legislative history shows that the Legislature was specifically asked to permit bad acts to be used for propensity, and was informed of this Court's ruling in <u>Braunstein v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 68, 40 P.3d 413 (2002), before amending NRS 48.045.

Finally, there was sufficient evidence to convict Appellant. In order to determine Appellant's intent, not only did the jury properly consider that Appellant

touched A.F. multiple times, it also heard evidence that Appellant rubbed rather than grazed A.F.'s vaginal area, indicating that the touching was no mere accident. Moreover, the jury heard testimony regarding Appellant's inconsistent statements to police, including that he admitted to touching A.F.'s genitals. Regarding the timing of the touching, A.F.'s father testified that they went to his mother's house multiple times in June, 2015, and Appellant himself told police that he saw A.F. in early June. Thus, Appellant's claim that A.F. only went to her grandmother's house on June 23rd and 24th is belied by the record. Nonetheless, the jury could have found that Appellant touched A.F. on either June 23rd or 24th, given the time available to him.

For these reasons, the State respectfully asks that this Court order Appellant's Judgment of Conviction be AFFIRMED.

ARGUMENT

ADMISSION OF THE EVIDENCE CONCERNING APPELLANT'S PRIOR BAD ACTS WITHOUT A HEARING DOES NOT CONSTITUTE PLAIN ERROR

At the outset, the State notes that Appellant did not raise an objection to the admission of his prior bad acts below, and therefore all but plain error is waived. <u>Dermody v. City of Reno</u>, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997); <u>Guy v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 578 (1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 507 U.S. 1009, 113 S. Ct. 1656 (1993); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991). This Court has consistently reaffirmed that "[t]he failure to specifically object on the grounds urged on appeal preclude[s] appellate consideration on the grounds not raised below." <u>Pantano v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 782, 795 n. 28, 138 P.3d 477, 486 n. 28 (2006) (quotation omitted). Moreover, appellate review requires that the district court be given a chance to rule on the legal and constitutional questions involved. <u>Lizotte v. State</u>, 102 Nev. 238, 239-40, 720 P.2d 1212, 1214 (1986). Where an appellant fails to preserve an issue on appeal, this Court reviews the issue for plain error. <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). Plain error review asks:

To amount to plain error, the "error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record." <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. ___, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524)). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. __, __, 343 P.3d 590, 594 (2015).

Appellant argues that the District Court improperly admitted A.F.'s testimony regarding the number of times Appellant touched her because it did not hold a hearing pursuant to <u>Petrocelli v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985). AOB 10. Generally, following a <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing, evidence of a defendant's prior bad acts

will be admissible where the district court determines that: "(1) the prior bad act is relevant to the crime charged and for a purpose other than proving the defendant's propensity, (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence, and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." <u>Bigpond v. State</u>, 128 Nev. ____, 270 P.3d 1244, 1250 (2012). A district court's failure to conduct a <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing prior to the admission of bad acts testimony does not require reversal of a defendant's subsequent conviction if: "(1) the record is sufficient to determine that the evidence is admissible under [the modified standard set forth in <u>Bigpond</u>]; or (2) the result would have been the same if the trial court had not admitted the evidence." <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 405, 990 P.2d 1263, 1269 (1999). Either exception will prevent reversal of a conviction; here, both exceptions obtain.

A. <u>BIGPOND</u> STANDARDS

Prior to <u>Bigpond</u>, the first prong of the test for admissibility of bad acts did not include the language "and for a purpose other than proving the defendant's propensity." <u>Bigpond</u>, 128 Nev. at ____, 270 P.3d at 1249 (citing <u>Tinch v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P.2d 1061, 1064-65 (1997)). The Court in <u>Bigpond</u> interpreted NRS 48.045(2) and clarified that in order for evidence of prior bad acts to be admitted, there had to be a non-propensity purpose. <u>Bigpond</u>, 128. Nev. at , 270 P.3d at 1250. However, the Legislature has since amended NRS 48.045 and, as discussed <u>infra</u>, evidence of prior sexual offenses may be admitted to show propensity. Thus, the appropriate standard is the one found in <u>Tinch</u>, which simply requires the evidence to be relevant to the crime charged, which it is here. Nonetheless, as argued to the jury here, evidence of Appellant's prior lewdness with A.F. served not only to indicate his propensity to do so, but also to show his intent and absence of mistake. 3 AA 520-21. The evidence indicated that Appellant had a pattern of touching A.F.'s genitals when she was at her grandmother's house in the computer room. Because it happened more than once, it diminishes the possibility that it was somehow an accident, as Appellant claimed to the police. 2 AA 307-08. It also indicates that Appellant was aware of his actions and meant to touch A.F. This evidence was relevant to show that Appellant willfully committed this act, and that he did so with the intent to arouse, appeal to, or gratify his sexual desires.

Regarding prong two, Appellant cites to <u>Meek v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1288, 930 P.2d 1104 (1996), to support his argument that since Appellant was not charged with the prior acts of lewdness with A.F. her testimony cannot be sufficient to provide clear and convincing evidence. AOB 12. However, <u>Meek</u> did not create a rule that prior bad acts must have been charged. Moreover, this Court has found that when a child victim testifies under oath as to prior instances of sexual abuse, the evidence satisfies the clear and convincing requirement. <u>See Keeney v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 220, 229, 850 P.2d 311, 317 (1993), overruled in part on other grounds <u>Koerschner v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 116 Nev. 1111, 1116, 13 P.3d 451, 455 (2000) (holding that when a prior child victim could not remember the year the abuse occurred, but testified that the appellant rubbed her vagina with his "whole hand," and touched her vagina with "his part," the prior assault was proved by clear and convincing evidence). Indeed, this Court has ruled that a victim's testimony standing alone is enough to prove a crime beyond reasonable doubt, an even higher standard than clear and convincing. <u>Mejia v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 487, 493, 134 P.3d 722, 724 (2006). A.F.'s testimony alone could have been sufficient to convict Appellant of the prior instances of lewdness; the State's decision to not charge him with those crimes may have stemmed from a multitude of reasons and does not impact whether A.F.'s testimony showed the prior bad acts by clear and convincing evidence.

Finally, the probative value of this evidence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. As noted by Appellant, the prior instances of lewdness were brought up only briefly, during A.F.'s testimony. AOB 13. At the beginning of her testimony, she stated that Appellant touched her more than once. 1 AA 55. She also referenced the "last time" that Appellant touched her when describing the time she tried to pull herself out of the room and her brother climbed on Appellant's back. 1 AA 68-69. Finally, she testified that Appellant touched her five times, one of which was over her clothing. 1 AA 118-19. The only questions relating to a specific instance other than the last instance were with regard to the time Appellant touched A.F. over her clothing. 1 AA 120. This did not create such a danger of unfair prejudice as to substantially outweigh the probative value of the evidence. The prior bad acts involved the same victim, and the same conduct as what was charged. In fact, the only direct questioning on this point referred to an act which could be considered less severe, because Appellant touched A.F. over her clothing. Thus, the testimony regarding the prior bad acts was no more inflammatory than the evidence that was otherwise presented; there was no real danger that the jury might disbelieve the evidence of the charged offense but nevertheless convict because they were so outraged and inflamed by the uncharged offenses.

B. SAME RESULT

For the above reasons, reversal for lack of a <u>Petrocelli</u> hearing is not appropriate because A.F.'s testimony satisfies the <u>Bigpond</u> standards. Nonetheless, if this Court finds the <u>Bigpond</u> standards were not met, any error was harmless and Appellant would have been convicted even if the testimony were not elicited. Pursuant to NRS 178.598, "any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." <u>See also Knipes v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008) (noting that nonconstitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict). On the other hand, constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The test under <u>Chapman</u> for constitutional trial error is "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." <u>Tavares v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n. 14 (2001).

Here, A.F. testified in detail that, while tickling her on the ground, Appellant pulled down her pants and underwear to her knees and touched her bare genitals with his hand. 1 AA 68-71. J.F. corroborated this story, testifying that while Appellant was tickling A.F., Appellant pulled A.F.'s pants down to her knees and J.F. saw her bare buttocks. 1 AA 182-83. Moreover, A.F.'s mother testified that although A.F. received A's and B's prior to sixth grade, her grades went down in sixth grade and she became withdrawn; after the abuse was revealed and A.F. got counseling, her grades have since gone back up. 1 AA 146-47, 158. Similarly, A.F.'s father testified that although A.F. generally went straight to the game room when visiting her grandmother's house, he noticed that she began to stay in the living room instead. 1 AA 213. One time when A.F. wanted to stay in the living room, her father saw Appellant pull A.F. into the game room and, at the time, thought they were just roughhousing. 1 AA 214. Moreover, A.F.'s father once saw her crying while leaving her grandmother's house and she would not tell him why. 1 AA 213-14.

Taken as a whole, A.F.'s testimony of what Appellant did to her, which was supported by her brother's testimony, coupled with her change in behavior and habits, provided enough evidence for the jury to convict Appellant, even without considering the testimony regarding the prior lewd acts. Particularly since, under <u>Mejia</u>, A.F.'s testimony alone could have been used to convict Appellant, her testimony along with the other evidence allowed the jury to convict, even if it had not heard the testimony about the prior bad acts.

Because the <u>Bigpond</u> standards are satisfied, and because the result in this case would have been the same regardless of whether the prior bad acts testimony was provided, Appellant is not entitled to a reversal. This is particularly true when looked at through the lens of plain error; Appellant did not object below to the admission of this evidence, and the District Court did not have an opportunity to rule on it. Therefore, this Court must determine whether the error was readily apparent and if it impacted Appellant's substantial rights. Because the <u>Bigpond</u> test was satisfied, there was no error, particularly not error that was readily apparent. Moreover, assuming *arguendo* that there was sufficient to convict him even absent the prior bad acts testimony. Thus, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

///

///

II.

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT WRONGLY INSTRUCT THE JURY TO CONSIDER BAD ACTS EVIDENCE FOR PROPENSITY.

Again, the State begins by noting that Appellant did not raise an objection below to the introduction of bad act evidence for propensity, and therefore all but plain error is waived. <u>Dermody</u>, 113 Nev. at 210-11, 931 P.2d at 1357; <u>Guy</u>, 108 Nev. at 780, 839 P.2d at 578; <u>Davis</u>, 107 Nev. at 606, 817 P.2d at 1173. Indeed, Appellant specifically had no objection to the jury instructions as given. 2 AA 467. Therefore, Appellant is only entitled to reversal "if the error is readily apparent and [he] demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights." <u>Martinorellan</u>, 131 Nev. _ , _ , 343 P.3d at 594.

NRS 48.045, as amended and effective as of October 1, 2015¹, provides:

1. Evidence of a person's character or a trait of his or her character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that the person acted in conformity therewith on a particular occasion

3. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the admission of evidence in a criminal prosecution for a sexual offense that a person committed another crime, wrong or act that constitutes a separate sexual offense. As used in this subsection, "sexual offense" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 179D.097.

¹ The addition of subsection (3) to NRS 48.045 applies to "a court proceeding that is commenced on or after October 1, 2015." A.B. 49, 2015 Leg., 78th Sess. §27 (2015). The Information in this case was filed on December 21, 2015. Thus, the District Court proceeding commenced after October 1, 2015, and this evidentiary provision applies here.

NRS 48.045 (emphasis added).

Further, NRS 179D.097 defines "sexual offense" as follows:

1. "Sexual offense" means any of the following offenses:

(b) Sexual assault pursuant to NRS 200.366.

(j) Open or gross lewdness pursuant to NRS 201.210.

(1) Lewdness with a child pursuant to NRS 201.230.

(p) Any other offense that has an element involving a sexual act or sexual conduct with another.

(r) An offense that is determined to be sexually motivated pursuant to NRS 175.547 or 207.193.

(s) An offense committed in another jurisdiction that, if committed in this State, would be an offense listed in this subsection. . . .

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